IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TOWN OF BELLEAIR,

a Florida municipal corporation,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC02-2149 DCA Case No. 2D01-5717 L.T. Case No. 00-6487-CI-20

vs.

FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION,

a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF TOWN OF BELLEAIR, FLORIDA

LEE WM. ATKINSON, ESQUIRE FBN#340375 TONY J. TUNTASIT, ESQUIRE FBN#0178683 TEW, BARNES & ATKINSON, L.L.P. 2655 McCormick Drive Clearwater, FL 33759 (727) 799-2882 Attorneys for Town of Belleair, Florida

INTRODUCTION

Without question, this opinion is now going to be used to challenge every franchise fee in existence. I also believe that many utilities will now refuse to enter into new franchise agreements, and this source of revenue to local government entities will in effect be eliminated by this opinion. This opinion may result in a substantial reduction in the revenue that pays for local government services.

<u>Alachua County v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 1065, 1069 (Fla. 1999), (Justice Overton dissenting in an opinion in which Justice Amstead concurred). So it was written and so it occurred.

The Town of Belleair was the plaintiff in the trial court, the appellee in the Second District Court of Appeal and will be referred to throughout this brief as "Belleair" or "the Town." Florida Power Corporation was the defendant in the trial court, the appellant in the Second District Court of Appeal but has since changed its name to Progress Energy Florida. For consistency, the investor-owned power company will be referred to throughout this brief as "FPC."

The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal was rendered in a permissible appeal from a non-final order granting an injunction and a partial summary judgment ordering arbitration. Therefore, the record before this court now includes the three volume appendix to the Initial Brief of Appellant Florida Power Corporation filed by FPC in the Second District Court of Appeal and a fourth volume further supporting FPC's Emergency Motion to Review Order Denying a Stay Pending Appeal so this Court may have an understanding of the factual basis for the trial court's granting of injunctive relief. All cites to the record found in the appendices will

A0215514.WPD

be in the form: (Volume #: Tab#: Page#) for example (I:16:7-10), just as it was in the court of appeal.¹ All cites to the record generated by the Second District Court of Appeal will be in the Form: (R: Page#).

¹Because this action stemmed from an appeal of a non-final order by the trial court, the Second District Court of Appeal did not originally include the three volume Appendix to Initial Brief of Appellant Florida Power corporation ("Appendix"). The parties agreed that this Appendix is critical to the understanding of the proceedings and all the appendices filed in the Second District Court of Appeal have been provided to this Court as part of the record.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedurally, this matter came before this court upon the filing of a petition for certiorari review from the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Florida</u> <u>Power Corporation v. Town of Belleair</u>, 830 So. 2d 852 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). The petition seeking to invoke the court's jurisdiction pointed out that the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal was in conflict with the decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Florida Power Corporation v. City of Winter Park</u>, 827 So. 2d 322 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). The decisions are in conflict concerning the power of a trial court to enter a temporary injunction requiring FPC to maintain the <u>status quo</u> under an existing franchise agreement that was about to expire and to continue to collect and forward, as a "passthrough," franchise fees contracted for in an agreement, the benefits of which FPC had enjoyed for 30 years. Central to that apparent conflict was each appellate court's reading of, reliance upon, or distinguishing of, this court's decision in <u>Alachua County v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1999).

Briefing and oral argument in the <u>Winter Park</u> case was completed with the oral argument having been heard in August of 2003. This court then entered its order requiring the petitioner in this case to file a brief and the petitioner now obeys.²

² In the interim, arbitration has been completed and an award made. Pursuant to the mandate of the Court of Appeal, the trial court has ordered the franchise fees collected pursuant to the injunction deposited by the Town in an escrow account at Carlton Fields. The Town has complied with the trial court order and disposition of those funds and awaits this court's decision.

In 1971, years prior to the scheduled termination date of the previous franchise agreement, FPC entered into negotiations with the Town and contracted to enter into a new 30-year franchise agreement at an increased franchise fee of 6%. The agreement contained the statutorily mandated clause permitting the Town to purchase the distribution system of FPC at the conclusion of the franchise agreement at an arbitrated price. (I:1:9-10).

As the term of the franchise agreement drew to a close, the Town notified FPC of its intention to explore the purchase of the distribution facility and asked for FPC's cooperation in arriving at a price. FPC refused to cooperate, specifically notifing the Town of its intent to breach the contract and that it refused to voluntarily arbitrate the purchase price for the distribution system.

In September, 2000, the Town filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment and Injunctive Relief. The Town subsequently filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment concerning its right to arbitrate the purchase price of the distribution facilities and filed a Motion for Temporary Injunctive Relief, seeking to maintain the status quo between the parties until the arbitration was completed and the Town made an offer to purchase the system, or a new franchise agreement was entered into. T h e findings of fact and conclusions of law set forth in the trial court's original order were supported by the record and are persuasive on the issues raised:

> 6. A "franchise" is a special privilege, which is conferred by a government on individuals or corporations, that does not belong to the citizens of a municipality by common right. When granted, a franchise becomes a property right in the legal sense of the word. Local

governments may collect franchise fees from utilities, and such fees are not taxes. Unlike other governmental levies, franchise fees are bargained for in exchange for specific property rights relinquished by the cities. <u>Alachua County</u> <u>v. State of Florida</u>, 737 So. 2d 1063 (Fla. 1999).

The franchise fees that are subject to this action were bargained for in exchange for specific property rights relinquished by the Plaintiff. When the Franchise Agreement expires on December 1, 2001 the property rights that were relinquished by the Plaintiff revert back to the Plaintiff.

7. The Defendant's continuing to use Plaintiff's property without paying for the use of the Plaintiff's property, when the current Franchise Agreement expires, will cause the plaintiff to suffer irreparable harm for which there is no adequate remedy at law. Money will not adequately compensate the Plaintiff for the Defendant's violation of the Plaintiff's property rights after the franchise expires. In addition, the parties agreed that the value of the Defendant's electric facilities at the expiration of the franchise would be determined through arbitration. The right to have an issue determined through arbitration cannot be compensated by money damages in a court of law.

The Plaintiff has a clear legal right to a temporary injunction to maintain the status quo and have the value of Defendant's electric facilities determined through arbitration.

The granting of a temporary injunction will serve the public interest in having franchise agreements enforced to their terms; in having the parties to franchise agreements negotiate the terms of new franchise agreements in good faith when an existing franchise is about to expire; and in preventing the taking of municipal property rights by private utility companies once the franchise expires.

(II:18:2-3).

In exercising its discretion to grant temporary injunctive relief, the court was clearly aware of this court's holding in Alachua County and found a logical distinction

A0215514.WPD

between a municipality, or other local government, <u>unilaterally</u> imposing a <u>new</u> fee for

continuing to permit enjoyment of a right it had already conferred to another and a

court order entered in litigation to maintain the status quo between litigating parties.

I am a court and they are a municipality. That is a different thing. They are concerned about, you know, a completely different issue. This is litigation, and the court has a control over litigation and the parties of the litigation. It's fundamentally different than the relationship between a city and any other arm's length entity.

I want you to address that because it's one thing to say that a city just can't go out and ex post facto decide they're going to impose fees on a right they've already given away with no notice to the other side. That is one thing. It's another thing entirely to come in here and say, "Judge, maintain the status quo in this existing dispute between the parties so that neither party gets an unfair advantage during the resolution of the dispute so that one party cannot use delay and use other procedural methods to put themselves in a position of advantage." You see what I'm saying? Those are fundamentally different questions.

(II:16:93-94).

In reaching its decision to grant temporary injunctive relief, the trial court also recognized that the Town's revenue sources were finite and that elimination of the franchise fee represented a reduction in that finite maximum revenue which could be made available to the Town from the operation of a public electric utility within its boundaries. The trial court recognized that, "the City only has limited means of making money." (II:16:87). Moreover, the Court acknowledged that if the Town had already charged the maximum 10 percent utility tax, the elimination of the Franchise Fee would be fiscally detrimental to the Town: "assuming that it was maxed out on what the

statute said it taxed in terms of that along with other things...[i]t would be maxed out and it would actually lose gross revenues?" (II:16:88).

Upon appeal from this order, the Second District Court of Appeal reversed that portion of the trial court's order granting a temporary injunction requiring Florida Power Corporation to continue to collect and remit the franchise fee to the Town during the pendency of the action in the trial court.³

³While it should be obvious to this court by now, and it will not be repeated, the 6% franchise fee which is based upon each customer's monthly bill, is a "passthrough." The PSC rules and regulations allow the investor-owned utility to collect this fee from the customers and it is not paid from monies that would be otherwise available to FPC as profit (and ultimately a shareholder dividend).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The granting of an injunction is an equitable remedy that is dependent on the specific facts of the case. See, <u>Plissner v. Goodall Rubber Co.</u>, 216 So. 2d 228, 229 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1968); <u>Johnson v. Killian</u>, 27 So. 2d 345, 346 (Fla. 1946).

Trial court orders are cloaked with a presumption of correctness and should remain undisturbed unless the petitioning party can show reversible error. <u>Operation Rescue v. Woman's Health Center., Inc.</u>, 626 So. 2d 664, 670 (Fla. 1993), rev'd in part on other grounds, <u>Madsen v. Woman's Health Center., Inc.</u>, 512 US 753 (1994).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The decision in Florida Power Corporation v. City of Winter Park, Florida, 827 So. 2d 322 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) was the correct decision on this issue and the Second District Court of Appeal failed to acknowledge the accepted use of injunctive relief at the conclusion of franchises to resolve "holdover" issues, and failed to give sufficient weight to the critical distinguishing factors between the Town's position and the factual situation in <u>Alachua County v. State</u>, 737 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1999). The decision of the Second District Court of Appeal directly impacts the constitutional, statutory and charter rights of municipalities and changes the rules concerning their exercise of the right to franchise out those critical property rights. The decision below ignores the historical relationship between the municipality and the franchisee and effectively grants a investor-owned utility a never ending monopoly to provide electric service despite the expiration of its franchise agreement with the municipality and the municipality's right to have a legal monopoly on providing such services.

Though the dissenters predicted the unintended consequence of <u>Alachua</u> <u>County</u> would be to bring about just such an impasse as the Town faced in the instant case, it is the Town's belief that this stalemate was not an intended consequence of this Court's decision in <u>Alachua County</u>, nor a necessary result of that decision. <u>Alachua County</u> is factually and legally distinguishable on its face from the situation in which the investor-owned utility had a franchise agreement for exclusive service and use of public rights of way for a finite period of time at a bargained-for fee. It is not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to use that bargained-for, market-established fee as the baseline which establishes the value of the investor-owned utility continuing to enjoy the privilege of profiting from its provision of service and its continued occupation of the public rights of way.

Finally, an injunction is a court order requiring a litigant to maintain the status quo: it is not an action by the local government agency and cannot morph into a tax by a local government agency. The continued collection of the contracted-for franchise fee is not a tax at all, but the imposition of an equitable cost by a court doing equity to maintain the status quo and ensure that the Town does not suffer irreparable harm in the situation where a damage remedy would be inadequate.⁴

⁴Interestingly enough, if the trial court denies the temporary relief and the monthly collection of the fee comes to a halt and it is later determined the "holdover" is unlawful and the Town is entitled to damages, the burden of the "tax" would shift from the consumers who now pay it to the shareholders of the company--at least until the next rate case.

I.

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF ORDERING FPC TO COLLECT AND FORWARD A FRANCHISE FEE

It was the appropriate remedy in this case. As the Fifth District Court of Appeal pointed out, temporary injunctions are appropriate in franchise cases in order to preserve the status quo during litigation or negotiation. Florida Power Corp. v. City of Winter Park, 827 So. 2d 322, 325 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). The Fifth District held that "an injunction under these circumstances is fair and reasonable (it merely requires Florida Power to pass on to the City the fees collected from the electricity customers) and lawful in that it maintains the status quo during an impasse in negotiations." Winter Park, 827 So. 2d at 325. The Winter Park court also held that an injunction to maintain the bargained-for relationship which existed during the term of the franchise while the parties attempted to negotiate the extension of that contract or a buyout of the system was a proper remedy and one previously approved in franchise cases. <u>Id</u>. Opining that the relationship between a franchisor and a franchisee is similar to that of a landlord and tenant, as the Town had argued in the trial court in this case below, the Fifth District Court of Appeal further opined that the relationship between a franchisor and a franchisee is similar to that of a landlord and tenant and as long as the franchisee remains in possession of the property, the franchisee is a tenant at sufferance at the original "rent value" until a new franchise agreement can be negotiated or, in this case, the arbitration completed. Id.

Standing in stark contrast to the well reasoned and common sense application of established franchise law to the facts in the <u>Winter Park</u> case, which are substantially identical to the facts in the instant case, is the Second District Court of Appeal's decision below. Putting the <u>Alachua County</u> issues aside for the moment, the Second District Court of Appeal, relied solely upon the case of <u>Sanz v. R. T.</u> <u>Aerospace Corp.</u>, 650 So. 2d 1057 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995), for the proposition the trial court <u>cannot</u>, by injunction, <u>extend</u> the terms of a contract <u>after</u> its <u>expiration</u>. Florida <u>Power Corporation v. Town of Belleair</u>, 830 So.2d 852, 854 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002). However, when one reviews the decision in <u>Sanz</u>, it is clear the case is distinguishable from, and totally inapposite to, the facts presented in this franchise case, and irrelevant to the proposition at issue in the trial court below.

In the instant case, the trial court recognized that the Town had asked FPC to go to arbitration months before it filed its complaint and over fifteen months before the court entered its temporary injunction. The court was of the opinion that the arbitration might have been completed if FPC had not required the Town to force it to arbitration. The temporary injunction, issued to maintain the status quo until the franchise was either renegotiated and extended, or the buyout option was exercised, was entered <u>prior</u> to the expiration of the franchise.

In <u>Sanz</u>, on the other hand, the issue was an appeal from a non-final order granting a preliminary injunction prohibiting a former employee from competing with his former employer. <u>Sanz</u>, 650 So. 2d at 1057. Sanz had had a written employment agreement which had a finite three-year term. <u>Id</u>. at 1059. The employment agreement <u>expired</u> and Sanz continued to work for his employer for almost two years before his

employment was terminated. <u>Id</u>. The appellate court in <u>Sanz</u> held that it was an error to enter a preliminary injunction pursuant to the non-compete clauses in a written employment agreement which had been <u>fully performed and had expired</u> by its very terms. <u>Id</u>. at 1060. (Of course, non-compete clauses are controlled by statute under Florida law and strictly construed to limit them.) In the <u>Sanz</u> case, the employee derived no continued benefit from an ongoing relationship with the employer. Moreover, the <u>Sanz</u> court recognized that injunctive relief would have been appropriate if the injunction had been issued <u>before</u> the employment agreement expired. <u>Id</u>. at 1059-1060.

In contrast to the Second District panel's reliance on the <u>Sanz</u> case are a number of cases from around the country that would support the trial court's issuance of injunctive relief under common law principals of implied contract, unjust enrichment, quantum meruit, equitable estoppel and the statutory rights of landlords concerning holdover tenants.

It is clear for example, that a party should not be allowed to enjoy the benefits of a contract once the contract has been terminated or expires, without paying for those privileges. See, <u>City of San Diego v. Southern California Telephone Corp.</u>, 266 P. 2d 14 (Cal. 1954) (holding that after the franchise expired, telephone company no longer had permission to use the city streets).

Moreover, pursuant to the equitable doctrine of quantum meruit (implied contract), courts have looked to a prior written agreement between the parties to determine a fair price for goods received or services rendered. For example, in <u>Westinghouse Credit Corp. v. Grandoff Investments, Inc.</u>, 297 So. 2d 104, 106 (Fla. 2d DCA 1974), the purchaser of an office building brought suit against a lessee upon an implied contract theory to recover rent for the lessee's use of extra square footage. Although the extra square footage was clearly not covered within the written lease agreement, the court held there was an implied contract for the lessee to pay for what it used. <u>Westinghouse</u>, 297 So. 2d at 106-107. The court looked to the written lease agreement for the other leased space and determined a per-square-foot value for the implied contract. <u>Id</u>.

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