THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TOWN OF BELLEAIR, a Florida municipal corporation,

> Case No.: SC02-2149 Petitioner,

vs.

FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION, DCA Case Nos.: 2D01-5717 a Florida corporation

CI-20

Respondent.

L.T. Case No.:

00-6487-

Answer Brief of Respondent Florida Power Corporation

R. Alexander Glenn, Esquire Associate General Counsel Progress Energy Service Company, LLC 100 Central Avenue, Suite 1D

St. Petersburg, FL 33701

Counsel for Florida Power Corporation

Gary L. Sasso, FBN 622575 Sylvia H. Walbolt FBN 033604 Robert W. Pass FBN 183169 Hunter W. Carroll FBN 297630 CARLTON FIELDS, P.A. Post Office Box 2861 St. Petersburg, FL 33731-2861

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

Of course, local governments have certain regulatory powers over public rights-of-way. Specifically, the Legislature has provided that local governments have the

authority to impose reasonable regulations on utility use of public rights-of-way, including the power to oversee the permitting of new facilities. See § 337.401, Fla. Stat. (2002). But the Legislature has not empowered local governments to control public rights-of-way like feudal fiefdoms, exacting tolls for continuing use.

Mindful of this legislative framework, this Court in Alachua County struck down an attempt by Alachua County to condition continuing use of public rights-of-way upon payment of a 3 percent-of-revenues charge exacted by the County. Court's holding in that case made clear that the utilities opposing the charge (including FPC) did in fact have the right to use public rights-of-way without payment of any fee (not tied to the cost of regulation). 737 So. 2d at 1068. Likewise, this Court held in Florida Power Corporation v. <u>Seminole County</u>, 579 So. 2d 105, 108 (Fla. 1991), that local governments are precluded by the overarching reach of state legislation from compelling public utilities to incur the cost of under-grounding distribution facilities in public rightsof-way. And, in City of Oviedo v. Alafaya Utlities, Inc., 704 So. 2d 206, 207 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), the court held that local governments may not compel a utility to enter into a franchise agreement as a condition to using public rights-of-way.

In Florida, therefore, it is abundantly clear that public

utilities do in fact enjoy the right to use public rights-of-way for the purpose of serving the public for whom those rights-of-way are held in trust. By the same token, neither local governments nor the courts may presume to revoke the statutory duties and rights of such utilities upon expiration of a franchise agreement.

Franchise agreements nonetheless hold value for public utilities. For this reason, public utilities have been willing, and remain willing, to negotiate and enter into true franchise agreements, even though they have the right to operate in public rights-of-way without them. The value in such agreements lies in the fact that, absent such agreements, municipalities like Belleair might seek to serve citizens who reside within their limits by setting up municipal electric utilities and precipitating a territorial dispute with an incumbent public utility. The PSC would have to resolve the dispute, and the outcome is uncertain. See § 366.04(2)(e), Fla. Stat. (2002) (conferring jurisdiction upon the Florida Public Service Commission "[t]o resolve . . . any territorial dispute involving service areas between and among . . . municipal electric utilities, and other electric utilities"); <u>see also</u> § 366.04(1), Fla. Stat. (2002) ("jurisdiction conferred upon the commission shall be exclusive and superior to that of all . . . municipalities, towns, villages, or

counties").

For this reason, the concern expressed by Justice Overton in dissent in Alachua County has not in fact come to pass. As evidenced by the record and the amici briefs in the Winter

Park appeal, utilities have entered into many franchise agreements after that decision was handed down. The key point is that these are voluntary agreements, and they cannot be legally coerced by a court on the ground that, absent a franchise agreement, a public utility must be evicted from public rights-of-way.

Belleair's reliance on City of San Diego v. Southern

California Telephone Corp. 266 P.2d 14 (Cal. 1954), is

therefore misplaced. That case concerned a utility franchise
established prior to 1905, when California state law was

changed to provide, as in Florida, that utilities have the
right to use public rights-of-way without local franchise
agreements. See id. at 19. With respect to territory for
which telephone utilities held franchises prior to the
enactment of the new law, the court held that a pre-existing
statute applied, requiring that a utility pay local
governments a 2 percent-of-revenues franchise fee under local
franchise agreements. Otherwise, the utilities could not
remain on the rights-of-way after a franchise expired.

As we have explained, the current statutory scheme in

Florida is different from the turn-of-the century regime in California. In Alachua County, this Court expressly rejected the "outdated view that arose over a century ago before the development of modern infrastructures" that local governments are landlords over public rights-of-way. 737 So. 2d at 1068 n.1. The Court held that conditioning use of public rights-of-way upon coerced payment of rent was precluded by "the vast statutes and regulatory schemes currently in place that affect both the location and cost of providing utilities." Id.²

3. FPC Does Not Have an Implied Contract with Belleair

Belleair next contends that FPC must be required to continue to pay a 6 percent-of-revenues franchise fee because, in effect, the expired contract between them continues to exist. This argument is based on a misunderstanding of the essential consideration for the franchise agreement, which is no longer extant.

² Cities may not profit from the use of streets. <u>See City and County of Denver v. Owest Corp.</u>, 18 P.3d 748, 761 (Col. 2001) ("municipalities hold public rights-of-way in a governmental capacity"); <u>American Telephone and Telegraph</u>, Co. v. Village of Arlington Heights, 620 N.E.2d 1040, 1044 (Ill. 1993) (cities "do not possess proprietary powers over the public streets" but only "regulatory powers"); <u>City of New York v. Bee Line, Inc.</u>, 284 N.Y.S. 452, 456 (N.Y. App. Div. 1935) (city does not have proprietary interest in streets); <u>City of Des Moines v. Iowa Telephone Co.</u>, 162 N.W. 323, 327 (Iowa 1917) (city holds streets in trust for the public and "is not entitled to compensation for the use of its streets"); <u>City of Zanesville v. Zanesville Telephone and Telegraph Co.</u>, 59 N.E. 781, 784 (Ohio 1901) (city may be compensated only to restore street to condition before utility constructed facility).

As we have explained, utilities have the right to use public rights-of-way with or without a franchise agreement. The true value of a local franchise agreement to a utility is the long-term assurance it affords that the utility can continue to operate and invest in its system in a particular locale without facing attempts by the city to supplant or takeover the public utility's system. As the expiration date of the parties' prior 30-year franchise drew near, however, Belleair initiated steps to buy out FPC's system, and it continues to mount an effort to do so. This demonstrates concretely that FPC no longer retains the kind of stability that it bought and paid for during the term of the agreement. It could not be clearer that this consideration no longer exists. At the present time, FPC is incurring disruption and expense to retain its business in Belleair, as the Town continues to threaten to take over its system. FPC should not have to pay Belleair as though FPC were enjoying the same right to be left alone that it previously enjoyed.

4. FPC is Not Being Unjustly Enriched

Belleair's contention that, absent an injunction, FPC will be unjustly enriched is equally devoid of merit. To begin with, as Belleair points out, the disputed franchise fee is a "pass through" charge paid by FPC's customers under the rules and regulations of the PSC. By declining to collect

that charge from its customers and remit it to Belleair, FPC enjoys no financial enrichment whatsoever. Rather, FPC has prevented its customers from subsidizing a cost that FPC previously had agreed to pay to obtain long-term operating stability for the benefit of the company and its customers.

For this reason, Belleair's reliance on City of Las

Cruces v. El Paso Electric Co., 1997 W.L. 1089567 (D.N.M.

1999) is completely mistaken. The court in that case ordered a utility to pay a franchise fee to the City of Las Cruces after its franchise agreement expired because the utility continued to collect that charge from its customers without remitting it to the City. By pocketing the fee, the utility obtained a financial windfall. By contrast, FPC has not collected any fee from its customers in the name of funding a non-existent franchise charge. Therefore it has not been unjustly enriched.

Further, Belleair's argument overlooks the system of mutual benefits and burdens established by the Legislature to govern the relationship between the parties. As we have described, the Legislature has provided that public utilities may occupy public lands for the purpose of serving the public. At the same time, however, the Legislature has authorized municipalities to impose a 10 percent-of-revenues tax on public utilities, see § 166.231(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2002), and

the Florida Constitution empowers local governments to impose an ad valorem tax on utility real and personal property. See art. VII, $\S\S 1(a)$, 9(a), Fla. Const.

As a result of these constitutionally authorized charges, local governments derive substantial benefits as the quid pro quo for the operation of public utility systems within their borders. What Belleair is attempting to do in this case is to obtain an additional <u>unauthorized</u> 6 percent-of-revenues charge without providing the contractual consideration and assurance afforded by a long-term franchise agreement. As this Court held in <u>Alachua County</u>, however, that is a tax, and local governments may not constitutionally impose such a tax.

5. FPC Has Not Improperly Changed Its Position, Having Accepted the Benefits of a Franchise

Belleair next contends that FPC has accepted the benefits of a franchise and now takes an inconsistent legal position.

FPC has done nothing of the sort. As we have discussed, FPC no longer enjoys the essential consideration afforded by its expired franchise - long-term assurance that it can operate and invest in its system in Belleair, free from governmental interference. Although FPC continues to use public rights-of-way, it has the right to do so, even absent a franchise. Far from changing its legal position, FPC has consistently argued, as a party in Alachua County, as a party in the pending Winter

<u>Park</u> proceeding, and as a party to the present dispute, that local governments cannot constitutionally impose a unilateral franchise charge on a public utility. Franchise fees must be consensual, and this one is not.

Belleair mistakenly relies upon <u>DeShong v. Seaboard Coast</u>

<u>Line R.R. Co.</u>, 737 F.2d 1520 (11th Cir. 1984), and <u>Kaneb</u>

<u>Services</u>, Inc. v. Federal Savings and Loan Ins. Co., 650 F.2d

78 (5th Cir. Unit A July 1981). These cases stand for the unremarkable proposition that a party may be estopped from asserting mutually exclusive legal positions. Those cases have no application here, where FPC has maintained a uniform position throughout several separate legal proceedings.

6. FPC Is Not a Holdover Tenant

Finally, Belleair argues that FPC is a holdover tenant and must be liable for continuing payment of rent like any other tenant. This contention fundamentally misconstrues the nature of a franchise agreement. A franchise agreement is not a lease on real property. Again, FPC does not need a lease to use public rights-of-way. Rather, a franchise agreement is an arrangement whereby the public utility provides electric service and the local government does not. Under a franchise agreement, the local government does not charge rent for real property. It receives remuneration for ceding (or selling) its own franchise – its prerogative to establish a municipal

utility and to serve its own citizens - to the public utility.

In fact, a local government may not permissibly charge "rent" for public rights-of-way. This point was conclusively established by this Court's decision in Alachua County. In that case, Alachua County, a charter county, sought to impose a 3 percent-of-revenues charge on public utilities for use of public rights-of-way. The county attempted to justify this charge by calling it a "franchise fee" or "rent" and by arguing that it had the constitutional power to impose either over the objection of the affected utilities. This Court rejected the county's position.

This Court held that the charge was not a "franchise" fee because franchise fees are paid by consent - they are the product of a "bargained-for agreement." 737 So. 2d at 1066, 1068. In Alachua County, as here, the local government was not charging the fee by consent. Rather, it was seeking to impose the fee on the utilities over their objection.

Further, as we have discussed, the Court likewise rejected the argument that Alachua County could charge "rent" for use of public rights-of-way, observing that this was an "outdated view" inconsistent with the "development of modern infrastructures" and "the vast statutes and regulatory schemes currently in place that affect both the location and cost of providing utilities." Id. at 1068 & n.1. The Court

explicitly held that a local government was constitutionally limited to charging only a "reasonable fee to cover the cost of regulation" and that such a charge could not "exceed[] the cost of regulation." Id. at 1068.

Belleair has never attempted to calculate its cost of regulating FPC's use of public rights-of-way and has made no attempt to show that a 6 percent-of-revenues charge even reasonably approximates that cost. Indeed, on its face a percentage-of-revenues charge cannot constitute a reasonable regulatory charge as a matter of law because a percentage-of-revenues charge is not tied to the cost of regulating anything. It is tied, rather, to revenues, which is a function of sales, which are a function of consumer demand, not costs.

For this very reason, in <u>Bozeman v. City of Brooksville</u>, 82 So. 2d 729 (1955), this Court struck down as facially unconstitutional a percentage-of-sales licensing charge that the city sought to justify as a reasonable regulatory charge. The Court held that, because the charge was calculated as a percentage of gross sales, "the ordinance <u>shows on its face</u> that the fees exacted have no reasonable relation to the cost of issuing the license or any expenses which may reasonably be expected to be incurred in enforcing the ordinance." <u>Id.</u> at 730. The Court held that the charge constituted an illegal

tax.

Faithful to these teachings, the First District, affirming Judge Terry Lewis's decision, struck down a percentage-of-revenues charge imposed by Leon County on a utility as an unconstitutional tax. See Leon County v. Talquin Electric Cooperative, Inc., 795 So. 2d 1142 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). Judge Lewis reasoned that the question "[w]hether the fee is an illegal tax is a question which must be determined from the face of the Ordinance itself, not whether at some point in time the fee authorized might coincidentally be equal to the value of property occupied by a utility company." Leon County v. Talquin Electric Cooperative, Inc., Case No. 99-5149, Order at 4 (Fla. 2d Cir. Ct. order filed Apr. 28, 2000); (A4 4). Judge Lewis further observed that Alachua County made legislative findings that the 3 percentof-revenues charge in the Alachua County case was "reasonable compensation for the use of the rights-of-way" and was "related to the fair rental value of such use, as well as the cost of regulating the rights-of-way," but "the method by which the fee was calculated - 3% of gross revenue - bore no relationship to the actual use of the right-of-way." Id. same is true of the charge at issue in this case and, like the charge disapproved in Alachua County and Talquin, the charge in this case was constitutionally prohibited.

In sum, Belleair had no clear legal right warranting the issuance of injunctive relief. To the contrary, Belleair had no right at all to the continuing receipt of 6 percent of FPC's gross revenues. Accordingly, the Second District properly reversed the trial court's order and injunction.

B. Belleair Failed to Establish Irreparable Harm

Although the Second District did not rest its decision on this ground, the decision may be approved for the further reason that Belleair failed to establish irreparable harm — an essential prerequisite to injunctive relief. See, e.g., State Farm v. Levine, 837 So. 2d 363, 365 (Fla. 2002) (decision may be affirmed on alternative grounds supported by the record); Carraway v. Armour, 156 So. 2d 494, 497 (Fla. 1063) (same).

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